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ARGUMENT IN REPLY

1.  DEFENDANTS’ ATTACK ON PLAINTIFFS’ RELIGION CAN NOT BE
 SUSTAINED IN A POST HOBBY LOBBY AMERICA

It appears from their Answering Brief that the Defendants purposefully 

ignored (never even mentioned, let alone distinguished) recently decided, relevant 

U.S. Supreme Court case-law concerning the Religious Freedom Restoration Act 

in their analysis of RFRA. Yet the Court of course recently decided the “Hobby 

Lobby” case, and the precedent it sets concerning RFRA cannot be disregarded so 

cavalierly. 

B  urwell, Secretary of Health and Human Services, et al.   v. Hobby Lobby   

Stores, Inc., et al., 573 U. S.          (Decided June 30, 2014), is the latest ruling 

instructing all lower courts on standards of how to treat governmental burdens on 

the free exercise of religion under RFRA.

The Hobby Lobby case discusses how Congress enacted RFRA in 1993 in 

order to provide very broad protection for religious liberty. RLUIPA amended 

RFRA’s definition of the “exercise of religion.” See §2000bb–2(4) (importing 

RLUIPA definition). Before RLUIPA, RFRA’s definition made reference to the 

First Amendment. See §2000bb–2(4) (1994 ed.) (defining “exercise of religion” as 

1
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“the exercise of religion under the First Amendment”). In RLUIPA, in an obvious

effort to effect a complete separation from First Amendment case law, Congress 

deleted the reference to the First Amendment and defined the “exercise of religion” 

to include “any exercise of religion, whether or not compelled by, or central to, a 

system of religious belief.” §2000cc–5(7)(A). And Congress mandated that this 

concept “be construed in favor of a broad protection of religious exercise, to the 

maximum extent permitted by the terms of this chapter and the Constitution.” 

§2000cc–3(g). As the Hobby Lobby case now makes very clear, RLUIPA’s 

alteration clarified that courts should not question the centrality of a particular 

religious exercise. See Rasul v. Myers, 563 F. 3d 527, 535 (CADC 2009) (Brown, 

J., concurring) (“There is no doubt that RLUIPA’s drafters, in changing the 

definition of ‘exercise of religion,’ wanted to broaden the scope of the kinds of 

practices protected by RFRA”). See also Gilardi v. United States Dept. of Health 

and Human Servs., 733 F. 3d 1208, 1211 (CADC 2013) (RFRA, as amended, 

“provides us with no helpful definition of ‘exercise of religion.’”); Henderson   v.   

Kennedy, 265 F. 3d 1072, 1073 (CADC 2001). Hobby Lobby, Ginsburg dissent at 

10-11. 

RFRA distinguishes between “factual allegations that [plaintiffs’] beliefs are 

2
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sincere and of a religious nature,” which a court must accept as true, and the “legal 

conclusion . . . that [plaintiffs’] religious exercise is substantially burdened,” an 

inquiry the court must undertake. Kaemmerling v. Lappin, 553 F. 3d 669, 679 

(CADC 2008).

At issue in Hobby Lobby was whether the Religious Freedom Restoration 

Act permits the United States Department of Health and Human Services to 

demand that three for-profit corporations provide health insurance coverage for 

federally approved and fully legal methods of contraception that allegedly violate 

the sincerely held religious beliefs of the corporations’ owners. The Court held that 

the regulations requiring group health plans to cover all forms of contraception 

approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) violate RFRA, which 

prohibits the federal government from taking any action that substantially burdens 

the exercise of religion unless that action constitutes the least restrictive means of 

serving a compelling government interest. The main tension in the case arose from 

the conflict between a corporate employer’s asserted right to exercise religion in 

violation of a nationwide program designed to protect against health hazards to 

employees who may not even subscribe to their employers’ religious beliefs. More 

tension arose from the question of whether a for-profit corporation could possibly 

3
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exercise religion for RFRA purposes.  

The Supreme Court did not spend much time debating whether an exercise 

of religion existed in Hobby Lobby, nor did they debate whether any burden 

imposed upon the corporate employers’ free exercise of religion by the 

contraceptive coverage requirement is actually a substantial burden. Indeed, the 

Court never even began to dispute the employers’ belief that “providing the 

coverage demanded by the HHS regulations is connected to the destruction of an 

embryo in a way that is sufficient to make it immoral for them to provide the 

coverage.” Hobby Lobby at 36. “See Thomas, 450 U. S., at 715 (courts are not to 

question where an individual “dr[aws] the line” in defining which practices run 

afoul of her religious beliefs). See also 42 U. S. C. §§2000bb–1(a), 2000bb–2(4), 

2000cc–5(7)(A).” Hobby Lobby, Ginsburg dissent at 21. 

“Right or wrong in this domain is a judgment no Member of this Court, or 

any civil court, is authorized or equipped to make.” ibid. 

A court must not decide the plausibility of a religious claim: 

(“Repeatedly and in many different contexts, we have warned 
that courts must not presume to determine . . . the plausibility of a 
religious claim”); Hernandez v. Commissioner, 490 U. S. 680, 699 
(1989); Presbyterian Church in U. S. v. Mary Elizabeth Blue Hull 
Memorial Presbyterian Church, 393 U. S. 440, 450 (1969).

Hobby Lobby at 37.

 
4
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The Hobby Lobby majority found Bowen v. Roy, 476 U. S. 693 (1986), to 

be instructive. There, the Court rejected a free exercise challenge to the 

government’s use of a Native American child’s Social Security number for 

purposes of administering benefit programs. Without questioning the sincerity of 

the father’s religious belief that “use of [his daughter’s Social Security] number 

may harm [her] spirit,” the Court concluded that the government’s internal uses of 

that number “place[d] [no] restriction on what [the father] may believe or what he 

may do.” Id., at 699. Recognizing that the father’s “religious views may not 

accept” the position that the challenged uses concerned only the Government’s 

internal affairs, the Court explained that “for the adjudication of a constitutional 

claim, the Constitution, rather than an individual’s religion, must supply the frame 

of reference.” 

The owners of the corporations in Hobby Lobby asserted religious 

objections to abortion, and, according to their religious beliefs, the four 

contraceptive methods at issue are abortifacients. If the owners complied with the 

HHS mandate, they believe they would be facilitating abortions, and if they did not 

comply, they would pay a financial price. The Supreme Court had little trouble 

finding a financial fee to be a substantial burden. The Court reasoned that “a law 

5
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that ‘operates so as to make the practice of . . . religious beliefs more expensive’ in 

the context of business activities imposes a burden on the exercise of religion. 

Braunfeld, supra, at 605; see United States v. Lee, 455 U. S. 252, 257 (1982).” 

Hobby Lobby at 21.

Because RFRA applies in these cases, we must next ask 
whether the HHS contraceptive mandate “substantially burden[s]” the 
exercise of religion. 42 U. S. C. §2000bb– 1(a). We have little trouble 
concluding that it does...... By requiring the Hahns and Greens and
their companies to arrange for such coverage, the HHS mandate 
demands that they engage in conduct that seriously violates their 
religious beliefs.

Id., at 31-32.

In taking the position that the HHS mandate does not impose a 
substantial burden on the exercise of religion, HHS’s main argument 
(echoed by the principal dissent) is basically that the connection 
between what the objecting parties must do (provide health-insurance 
coverage for four methods of contraception that may operate after the 
fertilization of an egg) and the end that they find to be morally wrong 
(destruction of an embryo) is simply too attenuated. This argument 
dodges the question that RFRA presents (whether the HHS mandate 
imposes a substantial burden on the ability of the objecting parties to 
conduct business in accordance with their religious beliefs) and 
instead addresses a very different question that the federal courts 
have no business addressing (whether the religious belief asserted in 
a RFRA case is reasonable)..... The dissent in effect tell the plaintiffs 
that their beliefs are flawed. For good reason, we have repeatedly 
refused to take such a step. See, e.g., Smith, 494 U. S., at 887 
(“Repeatedly and in many different contexts, we have warned that 
courts must not presume to determine . . . the plausibility of a 
religious claim”); Hernandez v. Commissioner, 490 U. S. 680, 699 
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(1989); Presbyterian Church in U. S. v. Mary Elizabeth Blue Hull 
Memorial Presbyterian Church, 393 U. S. 440, 450 (1969). 

Id. at 35-37 (emphasis added).

In Thomas v. Review Bd. of Indiana Employment Security Div., 450 U. S. 

707 (1981), the Supreme Court considered and rejected an argument similar to the 

arguments put forward by the government in Hobby Lobby and by the

governmental Defendants in the instant case, i.e., that the stated religious belief 

was not a “real” religious belief. In Thomas, a Jehovah’s Witness was initially 

employed making sheet steel for a variety of industrial uses, but he was later 

transferred to a job making turrets for tanks. Id., at 710. Because he objected on 

religious grounds to participating in the manufacture of weapons, he lost his job 

and sought unemployment compensation. Ruling against the employee, the state 

court had difficulty with the line that the employee drew between work that he 

found to be consistent with his religious beliefs (helping to manufacture steel that 

was used in making weapons) and work that he found morally objectionable 

(helping to make the weapons themselves). The Supreme Court, however, held that 

“it is not for us to say that the line he drew was an unreasonable one.” Id., at 715. 

Similarly, in these cases, the Hahns and Greens and their 
companies sincerely believe that providing the insurance coverage 
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demanded by the HHS regulations lies on the forbidden side of the 
line, and it is not for us to say that their religious beliefs are mistaken 
or insubstantial. Instead, our “narrow function . . . in this context is to 
determine” whether the line drawn reflects “an honest conviction,” id., 
at 716, and there is no dispute that it does. 

Hobby Lobby at 37-38.

There is an overriding interest, I believe, in keeping the courts 
“out of the business of evaluating the relative merits of differing 
religious claims,” Lee, 455 U. S., at 263, n. 2 (Stevens, J., concurring 
in judgment), or the sincerity with which an asserted religious belief is 
held. Indeed, approving some religious claims while deeming others 
unworthy of accommodation could be “perceived as favoring one 
religion over another,” the very “risk the Establishment Clause was 
designed to preclude.” Ibid.  

Hobby Lobby, Ginsburg dissent at 34.

The definitions of what constitutes a significant burden on the free exercise 

of religion, as well as least restrictive means, have been extremely broadened in a 

post Hobby Lobby America. Indeed, shortly after the opinion, on a rare application 

for an emergency, interlocutory injunction under the All Writs Act, the Supreme 

Court, as the dissent points out, made clear in Wheaton College   v.   Sylvia Burwell,   

Secretary of Health and Human Services, et al., 573 U. S. ____ (July 3, 2014), that 

even something as benign as filling out a simple form certifying that an 

organization is a religious nonprofit that objects to the provision of contraceptive 

8
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services, and providing a copy of that form to its insurance issuer or third-party 

administrator, might be too substantial a burden on that organization’s free exercise 

of religion and likewise might not be a least restrictive means under RFRA. 

Wheaton nonetheless asserts that the exemption itself 
impermissibly burdens Wheaton’s free exercise of its religion in 
violation of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993 (RFRA), 
107 Stat. 1488, 42 U. S. C. §2000bb et seq., on the theory that its 
filing of a self-certification form will make it complicit in the 
provision of contraceptives by triggering the obligation for someone 
else to provide the services to which it objects. 

Wheaton College, Sotomayor dissent at 2. 

And remember, the least-restrictive-means standard is exceptionally 

demanding. See City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U. S. 507, 532 (1997).

2. THE DEFENDANTS BELIE THEIR POSITION BY ALLOWING 

MILLIONS OF AMERICANS TO CONSUME CANNABIS

In addition to utterly ignoring the Hobby Lobby decision, the Defendants 

also fail to even address their “condoning via inaction” of the entire adult

populations of Washington and Colorado (about 9 million Americans) being able 

to legally purchase and consume cannabis for purely social use in direct 

contravention of the Controlled Substances Act. Is the government in this case 

actually taking the position that the social use of cannabis is tolerable but the 

9
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religious use of cannabis must be prohibited? It certainly appears so by their 

actions of opposing Mr. Mooney’s civil case at the same time they refuse to even 

attempt to prevent the social use of cannabis in the entire states of Washington and 

Colorado. 

3. THE NATIVE AMERICAN CHURCH OF HAWAII IS A LEGITIMATE 

RELIGION THAT USES CANNABIS AND PEYOTE AS ENTHEOGENS, AS 

HAS BEEN DONE SINCE BEFORE RECORDED HISTORY.

The record only supports the conclusion that the Native American Church of 

Hawaii is a legitimate religion and that Mr. Mooney is a Native American seeking 

protection to freely practice his traditional religion. The United States Department 

of Justice has produced a Memorandum (excerpts 40) and given Congressional 

testimony (excerpts 44) that sets forth what should be Defendants' only concerns as 

to any compelling interests in this matter. The Defendants have presented zero 

evidence whatsoever that any of the compelling interests asserted in their Memo 

concerning the use of cannabis in certain “legal” states exist in this instant matter. 

Zero. The record clearly indicates that Michael Mooney is a Native American and 

member/founder of the Native American Church of Hawaii. It is error for the lower 

court or the Defendants to insist that Mr. Mooney’s church join or associate with 

any other church or any other collection of church groups to acquire “legitimacy.” 
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It is error for the lower court or for the Defendants to insist that Mr. Mooney’s 

church precisely mimic the practices or beliefs of other churches or groups in order 

to be afforded any protection under RFRA. The record is void of any evidence 

whatsoever that shows (or even tends to show) that the herb Rosa Maria (cannabis) 

was not traditionally and ceremoniously used by Native American practitioners of 

Peyotism as asserted by Plaintiffs. If Defendants dispute this fact, and have 

presented zero evidence to support their dispute, the lower court clearly erred by 

granting summary judgment in this matter. 

Conclusion

The lower court has basically told Mr. Mooney and every member of his 

church that his life-long religion he learned from his father and many church 

elders, which he registered as an ecclesiastical corporation, which conducts 

traditional religious ceremonies and proclaims certain historically traditional plants 

to be entheogenic sacrament, is not a religion, that his sacramental use of cannabis 

(and presumably peyote) is not an exercise of religion, and that having his 

sacrament seized and destroyed by the government and being constantly subject to 

arrest and prosecution by the Defendants is not at all a substantial burden on the 

Plaintiffs’ exercise of their Native American religion.  
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At the same time, we live in a country where a for-profit corporation being 

required to follow federal mandates regarding providing health insurance coverage 

to its employees is a violation of the corporation’s right to freely exercise religion. 

Unless the errors committed by the lower court in this case are reversed, we are left 

with a situation wherein a church consuming sacrament is not deemed to be an 

exercise of religion but a corporation refusing to provide health insurance is? 

Really? 

The District Court erred by dismissing this case. A trial on the merits is 

overdue. Appellants ask this Honorable Court to reverse the lower court's Order 

Granting Motion for Summary Judgment and vacate the Judgment in a Civil Case 

and allow Mr. Mooney and The NAC to properly seek declaratory and injunctive 

relief at trial. Mr. Mooney and the Native American Church of Hawaii also note 

that they have not consented and do not consent to the application of amici in this 

matter to file an amici brief.

DATED: Honolulu, Hawaii; August 1, 2014      

s/ M. A. Glenn                                                                      
MICHAEL A. GLENN/Attorney for Appellants
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